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1. 
Introduction
1.1  
Background

This Appraisal has been prepared for Lytchett Minster Conservation Area which was first designated on 8th December 1998. 
Section 69.1(a) of the Planning(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)Act 1990 defines Conservation Areas as:

“areas of special architectural or historic interest the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”.
Conservation Areas are designated to cover the streets, spaces and places in our towns and villages that are considered to warrant special consideration within the planning process by virtue of their historic and architectural interest. While bringing some added controls the object of designation is not to prohibit change or development but rather to manage its quality and contextual appropriateness.

The purpose of this appraisal is: 1. to provide an in depth analysis of character which will inform both planning and development management at the Local Authority, 2. to assist property owners and their agents in the formulation of sensitive development proposals, 3. to assist property owners and their agents in execution of sensitive alterations allowed under permitted development rights, and 4. to identify potential for enhancement works within the Conservation Area.
1.2 Planning Policy Framework 

Conservation Areas are designated by local authorities in fulfillment of section 69 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Planning Policy Guidance 15 Planning and the Historic Environment provides the statutory guidance for their administration, while specific Local Authority policies will also apply.  Further guidance regarding the legal implications of designation can be found in Appendix B.
1.3 Development Within a Conservation Area

If you are considering undertaking works to a property, or developing land that lies within a conservation area you are advised to contact a Conservation Officer and the responsible Development Control Officer at Purbeck District Council for assistance. This appraisal will assist in the formulation of appropriate design strategies for new development, which should be fully articulated within a Design and Access Statement accompanying any planning application. CABE has produced useful guidance (see Appendix A). 

1.4 Preparation and Survey Limitations

This Appraisal was researched and written by Benjamin Webb, Design and Conservation Officer at Purbeck District Council, during spring 2008, and revised following consultation during summer 2008. The document was formally adopted on 9th September 2008.
When reading or using an Appraisal it is important to note the document can never be fully comprehensive. For instance, some aspects of the survey information are limited to those areas which can be reasonably recorded from the public highway and other accessible land.

Failure to mention a particular element or detail must not be taken to imply that it is of no importance to an appreciation of the character or appearance of the Area and thus of no relevance in the consideration of planning applications.

1.5 Community Involvement

In line with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement two six week phases of consultation were arranged. The first (31st March – 9th May 2008) involved information gathering using a questionnaire made available locally and at Westport House which provided an opportunity for public input to the formulation of proposals and production stage of the document. The second (23rd June – 1st August) involved formal consultation on the finalised boundary proposals and appraisal document with a leaflet delivered all properties directly affected and other interested parties. All consultation materials were made available online. The consultation was advertised through local media and Council channels. Views were invited from local amenity groups and administrative bodies. Consultation responses have been taken into account in preparation of the final version of this document.
2. Summary of Special Interest

The object of the following paragraphs is to provide a brief (non exhaustive) summary of the reasons for designation of the Conservation Area. A more detailed introduction to and analysis of historic and architectural character and appearance will follow in subsequent sections.   

2.1  Special Historic Interest
The Conservation Area has developed through several principal phases with those of the last two hundred years particularly influential in determining current form and character. The clarity with which it remains possible to interpret such change – particularly notable in regard to phases of road movement and emparkment (the enclosure of land for use as parkland) – is of considerable interest. In general the historic estate managed character remains strong across the Conservation Area.  
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FIG.1: Lytchett Minster Church.
2.2  Special Architectural Interest

The Conservation Area contains a variation on the classic composition of great house, park and village in that it contains two country houses with associated structures as opposed to one (one of these listed at Grade II*). The Conservation Area otherwise contains an interesting mixture of houses in the local vernacular (structures built according to local tradition using local materials) and pattern book styles.   
3.  Conservation Area Site, Situation and Zoning

3.1 Location and Setting 

The Conservation Area is located to the west of Upton – the effective edge of the Poole-Bournemouth conurbation – and in the north-eastern part of Purbeck District. The broader landscape setting comprises farmland and forestry. The plantations to the north and north west of Conservation Area retain an estate managed character and provide a barrier which closes views in these directions.  Land rises in the north east and falls towards the south west, this allowing some attractive views across farmland from within the Conservation Area. To the south and south east the A35 compromises the broader setting of the Conservation Area though a strip of agricultural land provides a narrow buffer across which there are limited views. Further to the south east, Lytchett Bay, visible from the manor house, forms the western extent of Poole Harbour. Prior to construction of the A35 the road through Lytchett Minster was the main route into Poole from Wareham, and while now serving mainly local traffic, nonetheless remains in heavy use.   
3.2 Socio-Economic Profile and Uses 

Historically the village and houses within and scattered around the margins of the park provided accommodation for Estate labourers, agricultural and other workers. At one time the manufacture of woven ‘Dorset Buttons’ was an important cottage industry locally. While since 1957 the Estate has disposed of both land and properties, much, including Post Green House, remain in this ownership. The manor house and lands now support both a thriving and attractive County school campus and caravan site. Private houses provide mainly local accommodation. 
3.3 Study Zones 

While the Conservation Area is united by a closely interconnected social, economic and developmental history, given variation in character it will be split between two ‘zones’ for sake of administrative clarity. These are shown on Map 2 and comprise, with brief description:
Zone 1:  The village – in large part the original designation – which is characterised by spaced residential development along main road frontages.  
Zone 2:   Post Green House and South Lytchett Manor with associated parkland and structures including estate and other buildings around the parkland perimeter. Characterised by a dispersed pattern of development within the context of a designed landscape containing open spaces, drives, woodland, views, vistas and a framework of historic routes.   
4.  Historic Morphology and Archaeology
Early History
The early history of the settlement is unclear though the name ‘Lytchett’ is Celtic in derivation suggesting continuity of occupation within the area over an extended period. The position of the settlement at the head of Lytchett Bay made it a point through which travellers around Poole Harbour would naturally pass. The addition of ‘Minster’ to the name appears to have been to differentiate the village from its namesake to the north – the church here a chapelry of Sturminster Marshall – this one of a number of means by which distinction was achieved historically. The village is styled as ‘South’ Lytchett on Treswell’s sixteenth century map which was a form adopted in naming the later manor house, while ‘Upper’ and ‘Lower’ were also employed.  The tower of the church is medieval, and the foundations of another structure, which is recorded as standing derelict during the nineteenth century, also survive. The function of this structure is unclear. The historic settlement appears to have been laid out along a short but relatively straight length of road from which further routes branched at top and bottom with ‘greens’ apparently located at each junction. The 1838 tithe map shows very irregular and informal frontage enclosure, while field boundaries at this time – the pattern since greatly rationalised – recall medieval open field cultivation, their typical elongated ‘S’ shaped forms tracking ridge and furrow.   
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FIG. 2: 1838 Lytchett Minster Tithe Map. The village and surrounding landscape prior to major reorganisation (see Map 3). Note the hedgerow shapes which hint at enclosed open fields, and irregular street frontage. (Ref: DRO T/LMR).
Eighteenth Century

From the eighteenth century onwards development of the village was strongly tied up with management of the estate of which much of it formed or became a part. 1748 marked the arrival of Poole merchant Nicholson who constructed Sans Souci (latterly South Lytchett Manor) within a large triangle of land north of the village for one daughter, and provided the land on which Post Green House was constructed for another. The houses appear to have been set within a pre-existing road network which served to provide access. The derivation of the name ‘Post Green’ is unclear though interestingly the 1838 Tithe Map shows a bowling green running alongside Post Green Road.  It has been suggested that the house here served as a posting inn, though this seems unlikely. The original house was more ‘villa’ than mansion and survives as the service wing of the larger house constructed during the early nineteenth century (see FIG. 3).   
Formalisation of the main road through the village occurred following establishment of the Poole Trust in 1756 and Wareham Trust in 1765, who between them constructed a turnpike road (a privately financed and maintained toll road – effectively the first ‘modern’ roads) between Poole and Wareham – the current A351 and B3067. The village section fell within the Poole Trust, as indicated by the milepost at the top of the village (see FIG. 10). The Trust constructed a further road from the junction at Three Oaks (see FIG. 2) to Lytchett Matravers, now known as Huntick Road. Plans were subsequently advanced to build further roads through the village becoming a ‘hub’ of sorts, though these never transpired. 
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FIG. 3: Post Green House. The original villa stands to the left of the main frontage which was constructed during the early nineteenth century.
Early Nineteenth Century

The early nineteenth century saw expansion of Post Green House and passage of Sans Souci – becoming ‘Lytchett House’ – to the Scott family. By 1832 this house had also been enlarged and the grounds developed to comprise parkland, private gardens, the cottage walk, and lodge on the old turnpike road (see FIG. 4). Cottage Farm was built at this time.
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FIG. 4: South Lytchett Manor. Representing an earlier phase in development, the old lodge which stood on the main road frontage prior to its diversion.
Mid-Late Nineteenth Century

With passage of ownership to the Fryers in 1832 a further phase of landscaping commenced. Parkland was extended to the north through closure of Brakers Lane and part of Pyetts Lane, this providing a buffer for the private gardens at the core.  Several cottages within the village including 49-52, and 55 appear to have been constructed during 1870s/80s, while other cottages evident in 1838 within both village and areas emparked, had been removed by 1890. The late nineteenth century saw a more formalised and enclosed village structure emerge. The body of the church was rebuilt during 1833-4, this representing a relatively early redevelopment which made interesting use of brick. The interior was gutted relatively recently.  
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Turn of the Century

In 1890 the estate passed to the Lees who embarked upon a major scheme of improvements using the architect Caroe. Extensive works carried out between 1892 and 1905 included:

· Extension and remodelling of the house (the original building gutted to become a large ball room). 
· Diversion of the turnpike road to the south with extension of the parkland and construction of a new formal entrance with avenue and bridge. Spiked iron railings were erected around the newly emparked section.

· Closure of Church Lane which was topped and tailed, the remainder becoming a new driveway to the house. Construction of New Road as alternative route also allowing a more formal setting for Post Green House.

· Construction of access gates at the southern tip of the property at the head of the village. At this time there was no direct access to the house from this point.   
Numbers 9-10 Post Green Road appear to date to this period together with the old village shop and former hall within the village. The estate yard was situated within the village just beyond the south western edge of the Conservation Area boundary. 
Mid Twentieth Century Onwards
The period has seen some shrinkage of the estate, the principal loss being sale of the manor house and parkland core to the County Council who have developed a campus of buildings within the area of the former private gardens to the rear and flank of the house. This changing ownership has disrupted the former pattern of access with a link established from the drive to the gateway at the head of the village. Part of the Edwardian parkland to the south has been leased as a caravan site which has constructed associated service structures along the drive. Two small estates have been developed on the edges of the village, one of the former estate yard the other of another yard adjacent to the St Peter’s Finger. Development has otherwise been minimal. 
Archaeological Potential: There are few references for the parish in the County Historic Environment Record (HER), so the archaeological potential of the Conservation Area is perhaps indeterminate, though evidence of past settlement might be expected. Reference to the County HER should always precede the drawing up of development proposals. 

5.  Townscape Analysis
5.1  Urban Structure 
Changes in the broader road layout of the settlement and its immediate context in part characterise the historic development of the Conservation Area (see Section 4 and Map 3 above). The Conservation Area is largely contained within a broad loop of roads which encircle the historic parkland. Those on the northern and western perimeter are primarily estate service roads, driveways off of which provide a private and semi-private substructure to the area. To the south the Dorchester Road provides a principal through-route which connects with a local network of link roads and a secondary route into Lytchett Matravers at the eastern edge of the Conservation Area. The village itself –  at the southern tip of the loop described above – is simply positioned along the Dorchester Road two focal point junctions at its northern and southern ends both relics and products of road reorganistaion which let on to only local service and access roads. Developed cul de sacs and alleyways are a feature of modern housing development within the village and not characteristic of the historic settlement in which development is simply arranged along the main road frontages.
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5.2  Building Density 

Building density is generally low. Older houses within the village are spaced along the main roads and commonly positioned within garden plots. The latter often have generous street frontage and help to green the settlement. The two modern housing developments at Old Forge Road and Ashbrook Close have a higher relative density, that of the latter perhaps more urban in character than suits its location. Within Zone 2 buildings are scattered within and around the historic parkland perimeter, these sometimes occurring in small groups as at Post Green.    
5.3  Building Height

With the exception of the two great houses – parts of which stand at three storeys – buildings across the Conservation Area are mostly of two storeys. Where single storey construction occurs this tends to be functionally related, as seen in the two lodges, old school, farm buildings and old village hall.  

5.4  Plan Form and Massing 

Within the Conservation Area residential development is generally of regular rectilinear form with modest massing, this well broken through the spacing of buildings in Zone 1. The school campus, Post Green House and some agricultural structures represent largely function-related exceptions. 
5.5  Edges and Enclosure
Within Zone 2 hedgerows play an important role in defining edges on the eastern and western sides of the historic parkland and the lanes which flank it, though there is an easy relationship with adjacent open farmland.  Along the southern boundary of land emparked during early 1900s enclosure is provided by spiked iron railing. Heavy traffic on the B3069 makes this a strong and perhaps harsh edge to Zone 2 and marks a transition given proximity of the A35 beyond a narrow field buffer. Within Zone 1 simple railings survive at the Montessouri School though the low boundary walls of some former estate cottages and the church have lost theirs, and in some cases been substituted with hedging.   
5.6  Visual Qualities
The historic parkland remains attractive viewed from various angles both from within and outside its boundaries, with varied compositions of woodland, trees and open spaces the best of which are found within the eighteenth century landscape core. Some key views/vistas are noted on Map 4. The 2004 Illman Young Study (see Appendix for reference) sought to identify designed vistas and views laid out within the parkland of South Lytchett Manor during its various phases of development and concluded that some elements of the latest Caroe scheme had been lost through low levels of grounds maintenance (overgrowth by woodland) and changes to the access route (loss of sequence). There remains potential to restore these elements. A view across to Lytchett Bay remains possible from the upper rooms of the manor house. One of the most noted public views is that between New Road or the churchyard and Post Green House.  
5.7  Landscape: Trees and Green Spaces
The contribution made by trees and green spaces is particularly important given the presence of extensive parkland within the Conservation Area. Though the quality and condition of this designed landscape has been compromised by division of ownership, and changing function, the layout and character remains substantially intact providing vital and spatial context for the many estate related buildings and structures which occur within the Conservation Area. It may be said that the parkland plays an essential role in defining the broader historic character and appearance of the Conservation Area. Notable specimen trees including a number of huge mature cedars thought to date to the earliest phases of landscape development may be found in immediate surrounds of both Post Green House and South Lytchett Manor, while others are distributed throughout the extent of the historic parkland. Remnants of an avenue survives along the route of the 1904 carriage drive (marked on Map 4), while a second more recent avenue comprising oak and horse chestnut planted along New Road is of particular note (see FIG. 7). Large belts of woodland, sometimes resulting from a low level of grounds maintenance, are another important feature of the parkland, while the large plantations which occur to the north and east of the Conservation Area are typical of broader estate managed landscape and close views to the north east.  
Within the village itself large gardens play an important role in providing the Conservation Area with a spacious, leafy and low density character, while ample verges alongside the lanes are particularly attractive in flower. 
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5.8  Public Realm

Groundscape: Surfaces within the Conservation Area carry tarmac.  
Street Furniture and Lighting: The Conservation Area contains a number of items of street furniture; those contributing to historic character and appearance the finger posts at the junctions of Post Green Road with New Road and Huntick Road, and cast iron Poole Trust milestone (see Section 6.5 and FIG. 11).  The village has unfortunately had its K6 telephone kiosk replaced by a 1980s BT model, though a red box has been somewhat incongruously introduced into the caravan site grounds. There are two post boxes, one a pillar in the village centre, the other wall mounted at Post Green. Street lighting occurs along the B3067 and is provided by concrete highways lamps.
Public Spaces: The most attractive semi-public spaces are those found within the historic parkland, and in particular the core area of the eighteenth century landscape. The centre of the village contains a few spaces which have been provided with benches, one of which is site of the village Pound. The materials chosen for this work and character of planting have a distinctly ‘suburban’ quality which could be improved. The latter is a stated aspiration of the local Town Plan group.   
6. Building Style and Details
6.1   Architectural Style

The Conservation Area contains a mixture of the grand, the more simple vernacular and the pattern book, building types and styles frequently dictated by function and status in the unifying context of estate construction and management. Simple Georgian/Regency style is seen at Post Green House, and in sections of both the earlier build at South Lytchett Manor and its contemporary lodge. The manor and later lodge, together with the old village hall, otherwise represent good examples of Edwardian Baroque – a style more familiar in the context of its use in municipal design (see FIGs 5, 6 and 8). 
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FIG. 8: Estate building styles. Top: The Edwardian Baroque frontage of South Lytchett Manor (obscured by a temporary construction road). Note the framing effect of the cedars. Bottom: Late nineteenth century estate cottages in pattern book design using local brick; a consistent theme, these are found both in the village (right) and within and around the parkland perimeter (left). 
Estate houses come in a range of simple brick built national pattern book styles (see FIG. 8), as does both the old school and church (the latter in ‘Commissioner’s Gothic’ – see FIG. 1). Taken as a group, this selection of styles carries perhaps urban overtones though a selection of vernacular forms in thatch and cob provide more of an anchor to context. The school campus contains a range of modern structures the more recent of which have aimed more to complement their setting, that currently under construction a high specification modern design which works surprisingly well alongside the manor house.
6.2  Walls
Interesting selections of local and imported materials have been employed in historic development. The use of Lytchett Matravers Sandstone occurs at the church. This iron cemented sandstone, or ‘heathstone’ is derived from members occurring within the London Clay which forms much of the immediate underlying geology of the broader area north and west. It is more commonly employed in vernacular construction around Lytchett Matravers. Local bricks in both buff and orange-red find common use within nineteenth century development, these likely to have been sourced in large part from the three local plants – Upton Brickworks, Beacon Hill Brickworks and Jubilee Brickworks – where a mixture of Oakdale and Broadstone clays of the Poole Formation were employed (see FIG. 9). Cob, which also utilises clay as a base, forms part of the local vernacular and is utilised rendered in a number of the older properties within the Conservation Area. Ham Hill Stone, imported from Somerset, finds notable and exceptional use in Caroe’s South Lytchett Manor and lodge.    
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FIG. 9: Local brick. Buff bricks produced in Upton from Oakdale clay, here used in the church. These are relatively soft and heavy repointing in cement has caused damage to sections of the building.  
6.3  Roofs
Roofing: The vernacular form (that used in traditional construction) within the village and broader area is thatch, the extent of which has been subject to some contraction over time through substitution with solid roofing. Flush ridges are the locally relevant style though decorative block ridges have been introduced to a number of properties undermining local distinctiveness. Here the contrast between the two is interestingly marked between the traditionally styled roof of 62 Dorchester Road and that of its neighbour No. 61 (see FIG. 10). 
Slate sees significant use within the Conservation Area where it finds common use on pattern book estate built properties. Most appears to be plain blue grey Welsh slate though a thicker grey slate is utilised for the lodge on Dorchester Road. Tile occurs in a couple places and is a notable component of the old village hall where its stylised use extends to hanging on the gables.  
Chimneys: Chimney stacks are generally brick built and plain in form carrying simple chimney pots where these survive. The massive central stack of the old lodge on Dorchester Road which incorporates the 1905 date stone, and the fat topped stacks of 62 Dorchester Road are interesting exceptions.
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FIG. 10: The local vernacular. Several thatched dwellings remain in the village. Note the contrast produced between thatching in the local style (right) and an imported East Anglian style (left).  
6.4  Windows and Doors

Windows: The Conservation Area contains a mixture of mainly casement and sash windows – the latter in the majority – both of which find application in pattern book designs. Unsympathetic modern replacement windows incorporating top hung elements have been installed in a number of places, some of these plastic.  
Doors: Many houses carry some form of porch or canopy, most of which represent additions of varied quality. Few doors of any interest or note occur, most being modern semi-glazed replacements of panelled or board doors. The oak double doors of the church are notable exceptions.   
6.5 Important Unlisted Buildings, Structures and other Features of Interest 
Unlisted buildings and structures which make a ‘positive’ contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area are detailed on Map 4 together with those deemed to have both a ‘neutral’ and ‘negative’ impact. A selection is listed below: 
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FIG. 11: Structures of interest. Left: cast iron milepost of the Poole Trust. Right: gravestone of Younghusband.
· Finger Posts: Positioned at the three junctions of Post Green Road. 

· The old Village Hall: Designed in a civic looking Edwardian Baroque, the hall, a gift to the village, is unfortunately no longer used for its function (see FIG. 5). 
· Artesian well: (see FIG. 12). Located adjacent to the New Road access to the Church. Historically used as a village water source the structure is now derelict.

· The St.Peter’s Finger: greatly altered inside but an important village landmark with historic character. 

· Gravestone of Lieutenant-Colonel Sir Francis Edward Younghusband: (see FIG. 11). Died whilst visiting the Lee family in 1942 and buried adjacent to their churchyard plot. An explorer, writer, spiritualist and one time head of the Royal Geographical Society most famous for the 1904 Tibet Mission which opened the nation to British influence. The gravestone is two sided and relatively plain in form though carries a carving of the Potola, the former palace of the Dalai Lama in Lhasa, with the Himalayas rising behind. Inscription utilises the same face as contemporary Lees family memorials.
· Turnpike mile post: (see FIG. 11). This post was erected by Poole Trust – the organisation responsible for the upgrading/construction and upkeep of the Bakers Arms to Poole section of the former Wareham-Poole toll road. Probably early nineteenth century. The post appears to have been moved from its original location (shown on the 2nd Edition OS map of 1902) probably in conjunction with diversion of the road 1902-05 (shown in its current position by 3rd edition OS of 1924). Other posts can be found along the old route, that south of the Baker’s Arms roundabout on the Sandford Road, listed.  

· Wall of horseshoes: This unusual feature has been constructed along the boundary of the forge. 
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FIG. 12: Old artesian well.
7. Ecology and Biodiversity
It is easy to underestimate the contribution made by wildlife to the character of a Conservation Area in terms of both sights and sounds. Buildings, trees and garden spaces provide nesting, roosting and feeding opportunities for birds and bats. These together with other animal species should be accommodated and provided for within new development in accordance with PPS 9. 
Lichens play an important role in terms of adding colour and texture to buildings and structures, amongst which the British Lichen Society notes churchyards such that in the village as particularly important habitats.

The extensive historic parkland with its combination of woodland, hedgerows, grassland, pools, streams and ditches provides a wide range of wildlife habitats important for both birds and small mammals. The rich crop of bluebells along Cottage Walk is notable, while the noisy rookeries in the tall trees around Post Green evoke strong rural character.

Verges alongside the lanes within the Conservation Area contain a broad variety of plants, wild flowers and grasses which are particularly attractive during late spring, though tend to receive excessive trimming.   
8.  Issues and Opportunities
8.1  Problem Areas 

‘Surbanisation’ of the public realm within the village and the urban form and layout of new housing represent problems in terms of village character. 
8.2 Evaluation of Condition


Most buildings appear in good condition externally, though poorly executed maintenance works have caused some damage (e.g. repointing at the church). Exceptions are the old Village Hall which appears dilapidated, the old village shop which is disused, and the lodge house at the former entrance to South Lytchett Manor which is in need of some basic maintenance. South Lytchett Manor itself appears in relatively good condition considering the nature of its uses during and since the 1940s. The condition of the landscaped grounds has suffered somewhat from a lack of comprehensive and coordinated management and investment since being broken up. By and large current uses are compatible with the predominantly open character and historic layout of the parkland with the possible exception of some more recent caravan park service infrastructure.       
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8.3 Buildings at Risk

The Conservation Area currently contains two listed structures which may be considered at risk through neglect and condition (see FIG.13). The first is the side access (current exit) gateway to South Lytchett Manor, one leaf of which has been removed, the other buried in accumulated debris and showing active corrosion damage. The second is the balustrade at South Lytchett Manor which is in large part intact though one truncated section stands overgrown and neglected. Indication has been given that these issues will be addressed upon completion of building works. 
8.4  Threats, Pressures, Challenges
For some time the general area has enjoyed the protection afforded by Greenbelt status however at time of writing the Conservation Area lies within an ‘Area of Search’ (a geographically broad location) defined in the Secretary of State’s Proposed Changes to the RSS (Regional Spatial Strategy) within which it is proposed to develop 2,750 new houses. It is self evident that extensive development of housing within the historic parkland perimeters of Post Green House and South Lytchett Manor would destroy the character and appearance of both these assets and the context and setting they provide for others. It is also evident that the quality of the village as a relatively small settlement constrained in growth and character by past estate ownership could be overwhelmed by any substantial development of housing. Should the requirement for housing be confirmed however the opportunity for investment in and enhancement of certain facets of the Conservation Area could arise linked to carefully planned development within the broader vicinity. 
9. Recommendations
9.1 Boundary Proposals:
Proposed for Addition 
The full extent of historic parkland and grounds of South Lytchett Manor and Post Green House with some associated estate and other cottages (comprising: Lytchett Minster School; Post Green House; 2, 3 and 4 Park Cottages; Little Russell; Seymour’s Cottage; Lodge House; Lytchett Caravan park; other land). 
The relationship between the village and the two large houses is strong. While these began as houses built on the outskirts of the village, development of the estate and grounds of South Lytchett Manor in particular has a had a far reaching impact upon the character of the settlement, to the extent that the historic and architectural character of the house, its grounds and village are most logically understood together rather than separately. It makes little sense to view the latter as forming part of the ‘setting’ of the village as the developmental history of the two are closely intertwined. At time of original designation the value of the house and grounds was acknowledged, though at this time, prior to the conduct of detailed research, it was felt that greenbelt status and listing were sufficient in themselves to make extension of the Conservation Area across this area unnecessary. It may be argued, particularly in light of the subsequent Illman Young research, that this conclusion was based upon a limited appreciation of the role and utility of a Conservation Area particularly in terms of historic asset management. It relevant to also note here the review of greenbelt proposed within the RSS.
PPG15: 4.6 makes clear that the designation of historic parks and landscapes may be appropriate where these contain structures subject to control. The historic parkland of South Lytchett Manor and its environs indeed contain a range of related structures – a proportion of which are listed – the ownership of which has been to some extent fragmented. As the layout and organisation of landscape here forms the designed context of these structures the designation of a Conservation Area across it allows for the holistic and coordinated treatment of the site from both the point of view of development management, and local grounds management by individual owners.
While it may be commented that in terms of the evaluation of building quality (Map 4) the redesignated Conservation Area contains a large number of ‘negative’ and ‘neutral’ structures, both context and the contribution made by ‘positive’ buildings combine to provide an overwhelming impression of quality and character. It should be noted that the South Lytchett School site is currently undergoing major construction works which will see the numerous ‘negative’ structures here – mainly temporary classrooms – removed in due course.    
Houses along New Road (comprising: Ju Del Lodge, Country Retreat, The Vicarage, Applemead, Friar’s Green).
While these houses are mostly more modern than the majority within the Conservation Area their layout and general form is consistent with the historic pattern within the village (i.e. spaced along the main road frontage). This means that they are relatively ‘harmonious’ in terms of townscape form and layout while individually lacking architectural interest. Given these houses make up and engage with one half of the lower part of New Road – the other side of which is otherwise included in the existing designation – and are positioned along a key entrance point to Zone 2, inclusion makes both practical and logical sense in terms the spatial integrity of the Conservation Area. Whilst the houses may therefore be seen to make a direct contribution to the character of Area at this point, it is one which is at best ‘neutral’.  

Roads and houses/buildings around the parkland perimeter: (comprising: Jarvis; Hillwood Cottage; part of Post Green Farm; Corner Green; Stafford Row; 8, 9 and 10 Post Green Road; 14 Huntick Road; The Courtyard Craft Centre; Cottage Farm).
The external boundaries of the parkland and the often intentionally diverted routes which help to define them form an important part of the character of the Conservation Area. It may be seen that the parkland is experienced from both the inside and the outside and that meaning is derived from the relationship between, and contribution made by both aspects. A range of relatively recent and more historic estate cottages occur around the parkland perimeter together with a few other historic properties. These are in large part architecturally consistent with other estate built cottages within both the village and parkland sharing aspects of form, design and construction. The agricultural structures at Post Green are included on the basis of giving the designation some spatial integrity at this location. Given that they neighbour buildings, and make up one side of a road otherwise proposed for inclusion, they make some contribution the character of the Area at this point, albeit one of mixed quality. 
Proposed for Removal

Parts of properties within the Ashbrook Walk development:
Since designation of the Conservation Area the development of Arrow Yard as Ashbrook Walk has taken place, and in consequence the boundary now cuts through some of the new properties. Amendment is required as a corrective measure.     
9.2 Management & Enhancement

Through positive proactive management and focused and appropriate enhancement works, the character and appearance of the Conservation Area may be both preserved and enhanced for the future. Analysis contained within this appraisal should assist in both the formulation and evaluation of development proposals thus helping to ensure that objectives are partially achieved through everyday planning. More broadly the list below presents a summary of potential action areas. Implementation will depend entirely upon opportunity, priorities and funding, and may involve or be achieved by either the public or private sectors.
Encouraging sympathetic maintenance and alterations: Encouragement of sensitive home improvement and maintenance could be achieved through production of topical guidance notes. An issue of relevance across all Conservation Areas. 

Public awareness of the heritage resource: It is important to raise awareness amongst the public of both the existence of the Conservation Area, and the important role they play as property owners in preserving and enhancing its character and appearance. 

Painting of the turnpike mile post: A new coat of metal paint would be of great benefit in both protecting the mile post and enhancing the contribution this makes to the historic character and interest of the settlement. A request may be made to the County Council which owns post.
Restoration of boundary enclosure: The churchyard would benefit greatly from either the reinstatement of railings or planting of a native hedge along its frontage, as the lack of strong enclosure along this boundary undermines the spatial quality of this part of the Conservation Area. Similar would also benefit the old village shop where the distinction between public and private space is again poor due to loss boundary definition. Strengthening the hedgerow boundary around the St.Peter’s Finger overspill car park and along the edge of the recreation ground would be of further benefit. 
Applications to list important unlisted structures: The turnpike mile post and gravestone of Younghusband are of potential listing quality. Applications are currently being considered by Heritage for listing.
Co-ordinated management of the historic parkland: Establishing a co-ordinated management regime for the historic parkland surrounding South Lytchett Manor and Post Green House could be of great benefit in maintaining, restoring and enhancing the quality of the landscape.  
Works identified by the Town Plans group: The Lytchett Minster and Upton Town Plan Group identify a number of potential improvement works which include renovation of the artesian well, improvement of the pound and the undergrounding of overhead cables. Scope for other landscape management and enhancement works are also noted and there is considerable scope for these within Zone 2 – as mentioned above.  
Appendix

Appendix A – Further Information and Advice

Legislation, Guidance and Policy

· Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. (see www.opsi.gov.uk).

· Planning Policy Guidance Note 15: Planning and the Historic Environment. 1994. (www.communities.gov.uk).

· DETR Circular 01/01. 2001. (www.communities.gov.uk). 

· Guidance on the Management of Conservation Areas. English Heritage 2005. (www.english-heritage.org.uk)

· Guidance on Conservation Area Appraisals. English Heritage 2005.

Design and Development
· By Design. Urban Design in the Planning System. Towards Better Practice. CABE/DETR 2000. (see www.cabe.org.uk).
· Design and Access Statements: How to write, read and use them. CABE 2006. (www.cabe.org.uk).

· Planning Policy Statement 1: Delivering Sustainable Development. ODPM 2005. (www.communities.gov.uk).
· Planning Policy Guidance 2: Greenbelts. 1995. (www.communities.gov.uk).
· Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing. DCLG 2006. (www.communities.gov.uk).
· Planning Policy Statement 7: Sustainable Development in Rural Areas. ODPM 2004 (www.communities.gov.uk).
· Planning Policy Statement 9: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation. ODPM 2005 (www.communities.gov.uk).
Historical Development and Archaeology

· Good, 1966: Old Roads of Dorset.

· Illman Young Landscape Design, 2004: A Report on the Historic Significance of Lytchett Minster School and the Impact of Future Development (submitted to PDC with Planning Application 6/2006/0240).
· King, J, 1987: Memories of a Dorset Parish: Bygone Lytchett Minster.
· Villagers, 2008: Lytchett Minster Village Album (unpublished).
Architecture
· Statutory List of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest.

· Newman and Pevsner, 1972: Dorset (Pevsner Buildings of England).  
Maintenance

· SPAB and IHBC: A Stitch in Time: Maintaining your Property Makes Good Sense. (Available from PDC).
Further Enquires 

Enquiries regarding this Appraisal and Conservation Areas should be addressed to:

Design and Conservation Officer

Purbeck District Council
Worgret Road
Wareham
Tel: 01923 557388
www.purbeck-dc.gov.uk
Enquiries regarding archaeology and the County Historic Environment Record should be addressed to:

Environmental Services Directorate

Dorset County Council

County Hall

Colliton Park

Dorchester

DT1 1XJ

Tel: 01305 224921

www.dorsetforyou.com
Appendix B – Conservation Areas: General Guidance
What is a Conservation Area?

A Conservation Area is defined as: 'an area of special architectural or historic interest, the character and appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance'. - Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  Conservation Areas are designated to cover the most historically and architecturally important and interesting parts of towns and villages.
Various factors contribute to the special character of a Conservation Area.  These include: the quality of buildings, the historic layout of roads, paths and boundaries, boundary treatments and patterns of enclosure, characteristic building and paving materials, uses and associations, the quality of the public realm and contribution made by trees and green spaces.  A strong 'sense of place' is often associated with Conservation Areas.  It is the function of a Conservation Area Appraisal to assess and evaluate 'character' as a basis for the formulation of management proposals and planning policies, and to assist in the evaluation of planning applications. 
Owning and Developing Land and Property within a Conservation Area*
PPG15 Planning and the Historic Environment, provides a principal point of general guidance on Conservation Areas. In order to assist in the preservation and enhancement of Conservation Areas various additional planning controls exist within them:

The substantial demolition of unlisted buildings and structures requires Conservation Area Consent (as defined by case law this currently means the whole of a building or structure, or whole of a building minus the façade). Proposals will not normally be looked upon favourably where affected buildings or structures are deemed to make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the area. An approved scheme for redevelopment will normally be required before consent to demolish will be granted.  Exceptions to the rule include: 

· any building with a total cubic content not exceeding 115 cubic metres (as ascertained by external measurement) or any part of such a building - with the exception of a pre-1925 tombstone;
· any gate, wall, fence or means of enclosure which is less than one metre high where abutting on a highway (including a public footpath or bridleway), waterway or open space, or less than two metres high in any other case;
· any building erected since 1 January 1914 and in use, or last used, for the purposes of agriculture or forestry; 
· Certain buildings used for industry
Where demolition is being considered early consultation with local Planning and Conservation Officers should be sought.  It is a criminal offence to carry out unauthorised works.
Within a Conservation Area permitted development rights are subject to some restriction.  Planning Permission will be required for: 
· Cladding of the exterior with stone, artificial stone, pebble dash, render, timber, plastic or tiles.

· Construction of an extension on the side elevation of an original dwelling house.

·  Construction of an extension exceeding one storey on the rear of an original dwelling house.

· Any enlargement consisting of addition to or alteration of the roof.

· Provision of a building, enclosure, pool or container within the curtilage incidental to enjoyment between a wall forming a side elevation and the boundary of the dwelling house.

· Installation of a chimney, flue, or soil and vent pipe on a wall or roof slope fronting a highway and forming the principal or side elevation.

· Installation of microwave antenna on a chimney wall or roof slope facing onto or visible from a highway, or on a building >15m high. 
· Installation of solar panels on the ground within the curtilage where these are visible from a highway; on the wall of a building within the curtilage where visible from a highway; on a wall which forms a principal or side elevation of the dwelling house where visible from a highway. There is a general requirement for solar panels to be positioned with regard to mimimising affect upon the external appearance of a building and amenity of the area within which it stands. 


Further restrictions may be applied by the Local Authority or Secretary of State through use of ‘Article 4’ designations where a good case can be made (e.g. covering aspects such as change of windows).
High standards of design are expected for new development within Conservation Areas.  Sensitive proposals which pay special regard to prevailing patterns of height, massing, articulation, use of materials and enclosure will be encouraged and have been given renewed emphasis in new statutory guidance notes PPS1 and PPS3. Early consultation should be sought with local Development Control and Conservation Officers.
Various types of advertisement including those which are illuminated will require Advertisement Consent.  Advertisements must be sympathetic to the character and appearance of the area.
All trees and shrubs with trunks 75mm or more in diameter at 1.2 metres above ground level are protected from felling, lopping and pruning.  Six weeks' written notice must be provided to the Council's Tree Officer in each instance during which time a Tree Preservation Order may be served. 
Implications for the Local Authority

The 1990 Act makes it a duty for Local Authorities to: 
· In exercising their planning powers, pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area.

· Formulate and publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of the Conservation Area.
· Review designations from time to time.
* Information correct from 1st October 2008. The law in regard to Conservation Areas is subject to current Government review and likely to change during 2009. It is expected that restrictions in regard to both demolition and design quality will increase. Check with the Local Authority. 
Appendix C – Listed Buildings 

Below is a table of the principal listed Buildings within the Conservation Area. For further information on these buildings see the Statutory List of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest.
Please note: The table does not include ancillary structures or those within the curtilage of named buildings. These are also covered by the listing. Names of properties given below are those recorded at the time of listing and thus under which they are officially listed. It is possible that some names may have changed. This does not affect the listing itself. 
	Address
	Grade
	English Heritage Reference No.

	Lytchett Middle School (South Lytchett Manor)
	II
	108980

	Balustrade and steps to terrace at South Lytchett Manor 40m south of the House
	II
	108981

	Entrance gates and gate piers to south of Lytchett Manor, 700 metres east of South Lytchett Manor, Dorchester Road
	II
	108982

	Lodge to South Lytchett Manor 700m east of south Lytchett Manor, Dorchester Road
	II
	108983

	Entrance gates and gate piers to South Lytchett Manor, 400 metres south east of South Lytchett Manor, Dorchester Road
	II
	108984

	Parish Church, Dorchester Road
	II
	108985

	57, Dorchester Road
	II
	108986

	47 And 48, Dorchester Road,
	II
	108990

	60, Dorchester Road
	II
	108991

	Post Green House, Post Green Lane
	II*
	109003

	Three Oaks, Huntick Road
	II
	108997

	Cottage Farm House, Huntick Road
	II
	431009
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FIG. 5: Caroe’s 1905 lodge. This part of the park is currently used as a caravan site, the caravans arranged either side of the drive.











FIG. 6: Entering Zone 1 from the west.  The road forms a dominant feature through the village in terms of both its size and heavy use. Most historic development is orientated towards it. Note in the left of this picture the former village hall – a Boer War homecoming gift to the village from the owner of the manor, noted in Pevsner.





























FIG. 7: New Road. The avenue of horse chestnuts and oak trees planted here is an attractive feature which enhances the approach to Post Green House.








FIG. 13: Listed structures ‘at risk’. Left: the remaining leaf of the Manor’s south gate. Right: a section of neglected balustrade within the grounds.
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